

Re: Amendments to the registered rules of Core Credit Union to incorporate legislative changes arising from the Credit Union (Amendment) Act 2023

Date: 27th November 2024

Dear Members,

The Credit Union (Amendment) Act 2023 brought in a number of exciting changes for Credit Unions (<https://www.irishstatutebook.ie/eli/2023/act/34/enacted/en/print.html>).

The CUAA 2023 allows a Board to make amendments to the rules consequential to the new act by board decision **without** the necessity of members to have a vote

Core Credit Union utilised this procedure to update our rule book to incorporate the necessary legislative changes and the updated rule book has been registered with the Central Bank

CBI review the amendments, and also require the Board to confirm that all changes arise from the new Act and that **nothing else** has changed.

We have set out the primary changes below and have also included a marked-up version of the 2023 Rules with the changes in RED.

- (1) **Removal of gender-based language:** ‘his’ and ‘her’ have been replaced by ‘Director’, ‘Auditor’ or ‘Member’ etc. depending on the change throughout the rule book.
- (2) **Introduction:** Section 14(9) procedure highlighted as basis of change.
- (3) **Objects - Rule 2(1)(a):** From “promotion of thrift among members by the accumulation of their savings” to “promotion of accumulation of savings by members”
- (4) **Members - Rule 4(2)(b)** Insertion of “In the case of a body (whether incorporated or not), it satisfies the requirements of the Act”
- (5) **Meetings, adoption and amendment of Rules - Rule 5(18)** Insertion of “Notwithstanding the passage of the required resolution, no amendment shall take effect unless and until such amendment, duly signed by four members, one of whom shall be the Secretary and another a director, has been registered under the Act”
- (6) **Board, committees and officers - Rule 6** Insertion: (9) The board shall hold at least 6 meetings in any year and the interval between any 2 meetings shall not be greater than 10 weeks”
- (7) **Rule 6(16)** – Deletion (now rule 6(17) “A record of each application for credit which has or has not been approved shall be furnished by the credit officer to the credit committee within 7 days of receipt of the application and such record shall be considered by the credit committee at its next following meeting and become part of the records of the credit union”
- (8) **Rule 6** – Insert Rule 6(20) “The Board shall appoint a nomination committee of 3 or 5 directors, which shall identify candidates to be nominated to the Board, accept and propose such nominations and fulfil the other requirements of Section 56B of the Act”
- (9) **Rule 6(22)** Insert (now Rule 6(24) “The Board may appoint the Manager to the Board for such a term as the Board may determine but, in any event, no longer that the Manager holds that position of employment”
- (10) **Rule 6(25) changed from** “The credit union shall not pay any remuneration, directly or indirectly, to a director or a member of the board oversight committee, credit committee, credit control committee or membership committee for any service performed by that person in that capacity. Nothing in this Rule shall be regarded as prohibiting the payment or reimbursement of expenses





which are necessarily incurred by a director or committee member in the course of performing any service on behalf, or for the benefit, of the credit union and which are approved by a majority of the directors voting at a meeting of the Board. Nothing in this Rule shall be regarded as prohibiting any officer or voluntary assistant of the credit union, acting not as such but in his/her professional capacity, from tendering for the supply of, and if successful supplying, goods or services to the credit union” **to Rule 6(27)** “The credit union shall not pay any remuneration, directly or indirectly, to a director or a member of the board oversight committee for any service performed by that person in that capacity. Nothing in this Rule shall be regarded as prohibiting the payment or reimbursement of expenses which are necessarily incurred by a director or board oversight member in the course of performing any service on behalf, or for the benefit, of the credit union and which are approved by at least 2 directors (excluding the beneficiary) voting at a meeting of the Board. Nothing in this Rule shall be regarded as prohibiting any officer or voluntary assistant of the credit union, acting not as such but in their professional capacity, from tendering for the supply of, and if successful supplying, goods or services to the credit union”

- (11) **Withdrawal of Shares - Rule 8(2)(b) changed from** “such shares are attached savings but the value of the member's savings immediately after the withdrawal would not be less than 25% of his/her outstanding liability and such withdrawal has been approved by a majority of the Board voting at a Board meeting” **to Rule 8(2)(b)** “such shares are attached savings, and such withdrawal has been approved by the credit committee or a credit officer”
- (12) **Loans - Rule 9 insertion Rule 9(1)** “The credit union may (a) make a loan to a member or when permitted by the Act, enter into an agreement with (b) one or more other credit unions in accordance with which the credit union agrees to participate in a loan to a member of one of those other credit unions by the originating lender, or (c) between the credit union and one of more other credit unions and one or more members or members of one of those other credit unions in accordance with which the credit union may provide a loan to the members of those other credit unions”
- (13) **Rule 9(1) changed from** “ The credit union may make a loan to a member for a provident or productive purpose, upon such security (or without security) and terms as the Board may provide; but no loan shall be made to a member who is under the age of 18 and neither is nor has been married unless an indemnity is provided by the member's parent or legal guardian or by a person approved by the Board. The manner in which loans may be applied for, considered and made shall be determined by such policies as the Board may adopt in accordance with the Act and the Consumer Credit Directive (2008/48/EC) and the European Communities (Consumer Credit Agreements) Regulations 2010.” **To Rule 9(2)** “Loans may be made for a purpose as the credit union considers appropriate, upon such security (or without security) and terms as the Board may require, the ability to repay the loan being the primary underwriting consideration. The manner in which loans may be applied for, considered and made shall be determined by reference also to such policies as the Board may adopt in accordance with the Act and the Consumer Credit Directive (2008/48/EC) and the European Communities (Consumer Credit Agreements) Regulations 2010 and any amending or superseding legislation”
- (14) **Rule 9(6) deleted** “A loan to an officer exceeding his savings may not be approved except by special committee consisting of a majority of the Board and at least one member of the credit committee but shall not include the applicant for the loan. A loan to an officer not exceeding his/her savings may be approved in accordance with either Rule 9(5)(b) or (5)(c)”
- (15) **Rule 9(8) delete** “(excluding, where the application for the loan was considered by the credit committee, any director who is a member of that committee)
- (16) **Rule 9 Insert Rule 9(10)** “When the Act permits, the credit union may refer a member to another credit union for the provision by that credit union of loan or other services or the credit union may provide loan or other services to a member of another credit union referred to it. In either instance, the recipient of the service shall be considered a member of the credit union





providing the service for the purpose only of the provision of the service concerned and for the period during which the service is provided”

(17) **Rule 13(4) insert** “duly witnessed by two persons”

(18) **Rule 13(9) (10) & (12)** Replace ‘Board’ with ‘Credit Union’

These are easier to see and assess on the ‘marked up’ version as they are all in RED.



XX August 2024

RULES of CORE CREDIT UNION LIMITED

(adopted by Resolution of the Board passed on XX August 2024 in accordance with Section 14(9) of The Credit Union Acts 1997 to 2023

44
LOCAL
EMPLOYEES

58
YEARS
SERVING THE
COMMUNITY

Your money
stays
in the
community

€
157m
IN ASSETS

€50m
IN LOANS

130m
SAVINGS

6,300
ACTIVE
LOANS

25 **LOANS**
ISSUED
PER DAY



INDEX

1	Introduction	2
2	Credit Union Operating Principles	3
2.1	Open And Voluntary Membership	3
2.2	Democratic Control.....	3
2.3	Limited Dividends On Equity Capital.....	3
2.4	Return On Savings And Deposits.....	3
2.5	Return Of Surplus To Members	3
2.6	Non-Discrimination In Race, Religion And Politics.....	4
2.7	Service To Members	4
2.8	On-Going Education.....	4
2.9	Co-Operation Among Co-Operatives	4
2.10	Social Responsibility.....	4
3	Rules.....	5
	Rule 1. Name.....	5
	Rule 2. Objects	5
	Rule 3. Registered office	6
	Rule 4. Membership.....	6
	Rule 5. Meetings, adoption and amendment of Rules	6
	Rule 6. Board, committees and officers.....	12
	Rule 7. Maximum amount of interest in shares	18
	Rule 8. Withdrawal of shares.....	18
	Rule 9. Loans	19
	Rule 10. Custody and use of seal	21
	Rule 11. Audit of accounts	21
	Rule 12. Settlement of disputes and complaints	23
	Rule 13. Withdrawal of membership, deceased and bankrupt members and nominations..	24
	Rule 14. Treatment of debts of certain officers.....	26
4	APPENDIX 1 – Common Bond Map.....	28

1 Introduction

The Credit Union has been incorporated under, and is governed in accordance with, the Credit Union Acts 1997 to 2023~~12~~ (the “Acts~~s~~”) and such policies as the Board may adopt from time to time that are in accordance with such regulatory directions and guidance notes as the Central Bank of Ireland (‘the Bank’) may circulate to Credit Unions generally or such classes of credit unions as to which the Credit Union may belong. The members delegate to the Board authority and responsibility for directing the Credit Union’s affairs in accordance with such policies as the Board shall, in accordance with law, adopt from time to time. The Board oversees the implementation of such policies by the Manager, employees and Committee members by reference to such operational procedures as they may adopt from time to time for the efficient management of the credit union. These Rules are ~~amended~~adopted by the ~~Board~~members in compliance with ~~Section 14(9) of the the First Schedule to the Acts~~ and supplement the statutory provisions that the Acts contains for their protection and the protection of the Credit Union.

2 Credit Union Operating Principles

These Credit Union Operating Principles are founded in the philosophy of co-operation and its central values of equality, equity and mutual self-help. At the heart of these principles is the concept of human development and the brotherhood of man expressed through people working together to achieve a better life for themselves and their children.

2.1 Open And Voluntary Membership

Membership in a credit union is voluntary and open to all within the accepted common bond of association that can make use of its services and are willing to accept the corresponding responsibilities.

2.2 Democratic Control

Credit union members enjoy equal rights to vote (one member, one vote) and participate in decisions affecting the credit union, without regard to the amount of savings or deposits or the volume of business. The credit union is autonomous, within the framework of law and regulation, recognising the credit union as a co-operative enterprise serving and controlled by its members. Credit union elected officers are voluntary in nature and incumbents should not receive a salary for fulfilling the duties for which they were elected. However, credit unions may reimburse legitimate expenses incurred by elected officials.

2.3 Limited Dividends On Equity Capital

Permanent equity capital where it exists in the credit union receives limited dividends.

2.4 Return On Savings And Deposits

To encourage thrift through savings and thus to provide loans and other member services, a fair rate of interest is paid on savings and deposits, within the capability of the credit union.

2.5 Return Of Surplus To Members

The surplus arising out of the operations of the credit union after ensuring appropriate reserve levels and after payment of dividends belongs to and benefits all members with no member or group of members benefiting to the detriment of others. This surplus may be distributed among the members in proportion to their transactions with the credit union (interest or patronage refunds) or directed to improved or additional services required by the members.

Expenditure in credit unions should be for the benefit of all members with no member or group of members benefiting to the detriment of other.

2.6 Non-Discrimination In Race, Religion And Politics

Credit unions are non-discriminatory in relation to race, nationality, sex, religion and politics within the limits of their legal common bond. Operating decisions and the conduct of business are based on member needs, economic factors and sound management principles. While credit unions are apolitical and will not become aligned with partisan political interests, this does not prevent or restrict them from making such political representations as are necessary to defend and promote the collective interests of credit unions and their members.

2.7 Service To Members

Credit union services are directed towards improving the economic and social well-being of all members whose needs shall be a permanent and paramount consideration rather than towards the maximising of surpluses.

2.8 On-Going Education

Credit unions actively promote the education of their members, officers and employees, along with the public in general, in the economic, social, democratic and mutual self-help principles of credit unions. The promotion of thrift and the wise use of credit, as well as education on the rights and responsibilities of members are essential to the dual social and economic character of credit unions in serving member needs.

2.9 Co-Operation Among Co-Operatives

In keeping with their philosophy and the pooling practices of co-operatives, credit unions within their capability actively co-operate with other credit unions, co-operatives and their associations at local, national and international levels in order to best serve the interests of their members and their community. This inter-co-operation fosters the development of the co-operative sector in society.

2.10 Social Responsibility

Continuing the ideals and beliefs of co-operative pioneers, credit unions seek to bring about human and social development. Their vision of social justice extends both to the individual members and to the larger community in which they work and reside. The credit union ideal is to extend service to all who need and can use it. Every person is either a member or a potential member and appropriately part of the credit union sphere of interest and concern. Decisions should be taken with full regard for the interests of the broader community within which the credit union and its members reside.

3 Rules

Rule 1. Name

The name of the credit union shall be Core Credit Union Limited (“the credit union”). The credit union shall not use any name or title other than its registered name. The credit union may, with the prior approval of the Bank change its name by a resolution passed at a general meeting of the credit union after the giving of such notice as is required by the Rules for a resolution to amend the Rules.

Rule 2. Objects

- 1) The objects for which the credit union is formed are the:
 - a) promotion of ~~thrift among members by the~~ accumulation of ~~their~~ savings ~~by members~~;
 - b) creation of sources of credit for the mutual benefit of members at a fair and reasonable rate of interest;
 - c) use and control of members' savings for their mutual benefit;
 - d) training and education of members in the wise use of money;
 - e) education of members in their economic, social and cultural well-being as members of the community;
 - f) improvement of the well-being and spirit of the members' community;
 - g) provision or arrangement for the provision of the following financial services: pensions, pension related savings accounts, life assurance savings and investment policies, life cover and serious illness cover, mortgages, personal current accounts, business current accounts and any payment services as per EU Payments Services Directives, additional services listed in Schedule 2 of Credit Union Act 1997 (Regulatory Requirements) Regulations 2016 (as amended);
 - h) subject to section 48 of the Act, provision to its members of such additional services as are for their mutual benefit.
- 2) Pursuant to these objects, the credit union may acquire property of any description permitted by or under the Act and borrow and give security for same and do anything expedient for accomplishing, or conducive to or consequential upon, the objects for which the credit union is formed.

- 3) These objects shall be pursued by the credit union in a manner that is at all times consistent with the principles of co-operation, equality, equity, mutual self-help and social responsibility.

Rule 3. Registered office

The registered office of the credit union shall be at Clara House, 37 Glenageary Park, Glenageary, Co. Dublin A96 XE26 or such other place as may from time to time be determined by the Board.

Rule 4. Membership

- 1) Admission to membership shall be limited to and consist of persons having the common bond of residence, occupation, employment or education within the area outlined on the attached map or any other common bond approved by the Bank and as have been duly admitted members in accordance with these Rules and comply with these Rules.
- 2) An applicant shall be admitted to membership only when:
 - a) it shall have been determined that ~~he/she~~ the person is eligible for membership in accordance with Rule 4(1); and
 - ~~b) In the case of a body (whether incorporated or not), it satisfies the requirements of the Act;~~
 - ~~b)c) the his/her~~ application for membership shall have been approved by the membership committee; and
 - ~~e)d) the applicant he/she~~ has paid for a minimum of 10 shares; and
- 3) where there is doubt in respect of an applicant's qualification for membership the membership committee shall submit the application for membership to the board of directors for a decision.
- 4) Unless a general meeting of the credit union decides otherwise from time to time, a person shall be treated as having the qualification required for admission to membership if ~~the person he/she~~ is a member of the same household as, and is a member of the family of, another person who is a member and who has a direct common bond with those other members.
- 5) If a member ceases to have the common bond required of members, the person he/she may retain ~~his/her~~ membership and voting rights, and continue saving but any such member shall be left out of account in determining for any purpose whether a common bond exists between the members.

Rule 5. Meetings, adoption and amendment of Rules

Interpretation

- 1) Where the words “present and voting” appears in relation to general meetings it is to be construed as including reference to a member who is physically present and voting, or, a member in attendance and voting by the use of electronic communications technology.
- 2) “Electronic communications technology” in relation to general meetings means technology that enables real time transmission and real time two-way audio-visual or audio communication enabling attendees as a whole with a reasonable opportunity to participate in the meeting using such technology from a remote location.

Annual General Meeting

- 3) In respect of each financial year, an annual general meeting of the members (“the “AGM”) shall be held in the State at such date and time, at a place (where applicable) and in the manner (where applicable) as the Board may, by resolution, determine but not later than the 31st of January of the following year.
- 4) At each AGM, the directors shall lay before the members the annual accounts, in accordance with the Act, for the financial year in respect of which the meeting is held; and a copy of those accounts shall be delivered, together with the notice of the meeting, to every person entitled to receive such a notice as detailed in subsection (7) below.
- 5) Unless suspended by a two thirds vote of the members attending, the order of business at AGMs shall be:
 - a) the acceptance by the Board of the authorised representatives of members that are natural persons and -members that are not natural persons;
 - b) ascertainment that a quorum is present;
 - c) adoption of standing orders;
 - d) reading and approval (or correction) of the minutes of the last AGM and SGM (if any);
 - e) reports of the Board, the Manager, the auditor and the board oversight committee (in that order);
 - f) declaration of dividend and rebate of interest (if any);
 - g) reports of the nomination committee and of all other committees and any sub-committees;
 - h) appointment of tellers;

- i) elections of the auditor, to fill vacancies on the board oversight committee and to fill vacancies on the Board (in that order);
- j) any other business; and
- k) announcement of election results and adjournment or close of meeting.

Special General Meetings

- 6) The Board or the board oversight committee of the credit union may, whenever they think fit, convene a special general meeting of the credit union (an "SGM"). If, by notice in writing addressed to the secretary of the credit union (the "Secretary") at its registered office, a qualifying group of members so request, the Board shall convene an SGM; and, if, within one month from the date of the receipt of the notice, the Board have not convened an SGM to be held within 6 weeks of that date, any 10 members, acting on behalf of the qualifying group who made the request, may convene an SGM. For the purposes of such a request, a group of members is a qualifying group if each of them has been a member throughout the period of 12 months ending on the date of the request and they together number at least 50 or, if it is less, at least 10% of the membership of the credit union at that date.

Notice

- 7) Before a general meeting of the credit union is held
- a) the Secretary shall give notice of the meeting to the Bank, to the auditor of the credit union and to every member who, at the beginning of the relevant period, is eligible to vote at the meeting and such notice shall:
 - i. state the date, time and place (where applicable) and/or manner (where applicable) of the general meeting;
 - ii. be accompanied by the agenda for the meeting;
 - iii. include the number of any vacancies to be filled at the said meeting;
 - iv. in the case of a notice of an SGM, contain a statement that the annual accounts for the most recent financial year may be obtained, not later than 7 days before the date of the SGM, at the registered office;
 - b) within the period beginning 21 days before and ending 7 days before the date of the meeting, be delivered personally or by post or by electronic means to the Bank, to the auditor and to each member, and so shall be delivered to the address of that member as recorded in the books of the credit union;

- i. Where distributed by electronic means to a member, the credit union will have requested, in writing or by electronic means, the member's consent to the use of electronic means for conveying the credit union's annual accounts and notices and the member had not objected to such use within 10 days of the receipt by the member of the request, and
 - ii. the member may request at any time in the future that the annual accounts and notices be conveyed to the member in writing.
- c) be displayed in the public office(s) of the credit union.
- d) in the case of a general meeting proposed to be held wholly or partly by the use of electronic communications technology such Notice shall also contain the following information:
- i) the electronic platform to be used for the meeting,
 - ii) details for access to the electronic platform,
 - iii) where required by a Board, the time and manner by which an attendee must confirm his or her intention to attend the meeting,
 - iv) any requirements or restrictions which the Board has put in place in order to identify attendees who intend to attend the meeting,
 - v) the procedure for attendees to communicate questions and comments during the meeting, and
 - vi) the procedure to be adopted for voting on resolutions proposed to be passed at the meeting.
- 8) The proceedings at a general meeting shall not be invalidated by the accidental omission to give notice to any member entitled to receive notice of the meeting or the non-receipt of notice by any member. A general meeting of which notice is given less than 7 days before the meeting but otherwise in accordance with Rule 5(7) shall not be invalid if not less than two-thirds of the members entitled to vote at the meeting and the auditor so agree in writing either before or during the meeting.
- 9) No member shall have more than one vote on each question at any general meeting of the credit union or any adjournment thereof irrespective of his shareholding or the number of accounts in his/her name in the credit union provided, however, that except in voting at

elections, the chair of the credit union (the "Chair") shall have a second or casting vote in the event of equality of voting.

- 10) The Board may at its discretion, allow members to appoint proxies for voting and representation at credit union meetings. Such proxies, representing natural persons, shall be vested with the authority to exercise the same powers on behalf of the member as the member could personally exert. Any determination to permit proxies for a particular meeting will be conveyed to the members alongside the meeting notice, and the authorisation shall be restricted to that specific meeting. The Board will establish the procedures and conditions governing proxy voting for natural members.
- 11) Voting by proxy shall be allowed when a member other than a natural person votes through a representative, who is a member of the group, duly authorised in writing or by electronic means for that purpose and accepted as such by the Board. Such representatives shall be entitled to exercise, on behalf of the member, the same powers as the member could exercise if the member were a natural person.
- 12) All members aged over 16 years shall be eligible to vote at a meeting of members. When voting is completed, the votes shall be tallied by the tellers. Any ballot paper which contains votes for more than the number required to be elected shall be void. All elections shall be by secret ballot and by majority vote (save for any special resolution or Rule amendment). When the votes have been counted by the tellers, the results shall be announced by the Chair. In the event that all vacancies are not filled by the first ballot further ballots shall be taken as required. In the event of an equality of votes between candidates for the remaining vacancies not filled in accordance with the above procedure one further ballot shall be taken and should that ballot fail to determine the issue, the vacancies shall be filled by lot from among such candidates having an equality of votes.
- 13) A general meeting of the credit union may, for good and sufficient reasons and with the consent of the majority of the members present and voting, be adjourned for not more than 90 days or such longer period as the Bank may require but no business shall be transacted at an adjourned general meeting other than business left unfinished at the meeting from which the adjournment took place and when a general meeting is adjourned for 30 or more days, the Secretary shall give notice of the adjourned meeting to the Bank, the auditor, and to every member who was entitled to notice of the meeting which was adjourned.

Proceedings at General Meetings

- 14) The quorum for a general meeting shall be 10% of the members or 30 members, whichever is the less but in no case shall the quorum for a general meeting or for an adjourned general meeting be less than 10 members.
- 15) It shall be the duty of the Secretary to keep minutes of all general meetings.
- 16) A poll may be demanded at a general meeting (or an adjourned meeting) by the Chair or by at least 10 members present (whether physically present, or in attendance by the use of electronic communications technology) having the right to vote at the meeting (or the adjourned meeting) on any question, other than the election of the Chair. A poll shall be taken in such manner as the Chair directs and ~~the Chair~~he/she may appoint tellers (who need not be members) and fix a time and place (where applicable) and/or manner (where applicable) for declaring the result of the poll. The result of the poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll was demanded.
- 17) If, at any general meeting of which notice has been given specifying the intention to propose or confirm a special resolution, the Chair declares that the resolution has been passed, that declaration shall, without more, be evidence of that fact until the contrary is proved. A copy of every special resolution for any of the purposes mentioned in the Act shall be signed by the Chair, countersigned by the Secretary and within 21 days of the date of the meeting at which the resolution was passed, sent to the Bank to be registered; and the special resolution shall not take effect until that copy is so registered.

Rule amendments

- 18) The Rules shall not be amended except by a resolution passed by not less than two-thirds of the members present and voting at an AGM or an SGM convened for the purpose of considering a resolution proposing a Rule amendment. Notice of the proposed amendment shall be given to each member and to the auditor at the same time as the notice of the meeting is given. Notwithstanding the passage of the required resolution, no amendment shall take effect unless and until such amendment, duly signed by four members, one of whom shall be the Secretary and another a director, has been registered under the Act.

Member's Covenant

- 19) The registered Rules shall bind the credit union and all members of it and all persons claiming through them respectively to the same extent as if each member had subscribed ~~their~~his/her name and affixed ~~their~~his seal to these Rules and there were contained in these Rules a

covenant on the part of each member and any person claiming through ~~them~~him/her to conform to these Rules subject to the provisions of the Act.

Rule 6. Board, committees and officers

Board of Directors

- 1) The credit union shall have a Board consisting of 9 directors which number may be changed to lesser odd of not less than 7 by resolution passed as a Rule amendment in accordance with Rule 5(15). No reduction in the number of directors may be made unless this occurs as a result of death, resignation or other action provided for in these Rules. Whenever the number of members on the Board is increased by resolution at an AGM, one half of such additional members shall be elected at the said meeting for one year and one half for two years or such longer term not exceeding three years that is consistent with the Board's succession plan. Thereafter, their successors in office shall be elected or appointed as in Rule 6(2) and (3).
- 2) The Board shall be elected [from among the members] by secret ballot at the AGM from a list of candidates nominated by the nomination committee established and operating in accordance with the Act.
- 3) The term of office of a director shall begin at the conclusion of the general meeting at which ~~the~~ director he/she is elected and shall not extend beyond the third subsequent AGM or beyond the limits prescribed by the Act. Subject to such limits on service as are prescribed by the Act, retiring directors shall be eligible for re-election on retirement.
- 4) The regular terms of office for directors shall be fixed at a general meeting upon any increase or decrease in the number of directors. Regular terms shall be so fixed that at each AGM the number of directors whose term of office expires shall, as near as possible, be the same.
- 5) Subject to compliance with the Act and financial services legislation, the Board may at any time and from time to time appoint, by a vote of a majority of the directors then holding office, a member (including a former director) to be a director to fill a casual vacancy. A director appointed under this Rule shall hold office from the date of the appointment to the next following AGM, or, if it is earlier, the next SGM at which an election is held for members of the Board, when ~~the director~~he/she shall be eligible for re-election.
- 6) The credit union may, by resolution of a majority of the members present and voting at an SGM called for that purpose, remove a director from office. The Secretary shall, not less than 21 days before the date of such SGM, give written notice of the meeting to the director concerned.

Where notice is given of such a resolution and the director concerned makes, in relation to it, representations in writing to the credit union (not exceeding a reasonable length) and requests their notification to the members, the credit union shall subject to any directions to the contrary received from the Bank (unless the representations are received by it too late to do so), in any notice of the proposed resolution given to the members, state the fact of the representations having been made and send a copy of the representations to every member to whom notice of the meeting is sent (whether before or after the credit union receives the representations). The director concerned may require that, without prejudice to his/her right to be heard orally, the representations made by ~~the director~~him/her shall be read out at the SGM. A vacancy arising from the removal of a director under this rule shall be filled in accordance with the provisions of Rule 6(5).

7) Where the Secretary has given notice under section ~~53(7)54(5)~~ of the Act that all the directors intend to resign on the same date or all the directors have been removed or suspended in accordance with section 96(1) of the Act or there is no Board, the board oversight committee shall convene an SGM, within one month of the occurrence of the event in question, to elect a Board.

~~8)~~ A director who is also a member of a principal committee shall, upon ceasing to hold office as a director, cease to be a member of any such committee.

~~9)~~The board shall hold at least 6 meetings in any year and the interval between any 2 meetings shall not be greater than 10 weeks.

Board Oversight Committee

~~9)10)~~ The credit union shall have a board oversight committee which shall consist of 3 or 5 members and have the general duty of overseeing the performance by the directors of their functions. The board oversight committee shall be elected from among the members by secret ballot at the AGM. The board oversight committee shall choose from its number a chair~~man~~ and secretary which offices shall not be held by the same person. The secretary shall prepare and have custody of records of all decisions and actions taken by the committee. The term of office of a member of the board oversight committee shall begin at the conclusion of the general meeting at which the member is elected and shall not extend beyond the third subsequent AGM. The regular terms of office for members of the board oversight committee shall be so fixed at a general meeting upon any increase to 5 members or decrease to 3 members, that:

a) where the committee consists of 3 members, one shall retire at each AGM;

- b) where the committee consists of 5 members, two shall retire at each AGM;
- c) subject to paragraph (d), the members to retire at any time shall be those who have served longest since they were last elected; and
- d) as between members who were last elected on the same day, the member (or members) to retire shall be determined by agreement or, in default of agreement, by the drawing of lots.

Subject to such limits on service as are prescribed by the Act, a retiring member of the board oversight committee shall be eligible for re-election or appointment. Casual vacancies shall be filled in the same manner as provided for in Rule 6(5). Where the secretary of the board oversight committee becomes aware that all the members of the board oversight committee intend to resign on the same date, ~~the secretary~~ he/she shall give written notice of their intention to the Bank and the Board. In the event that the number of members of the board oversight committee falls to less than half the number specified in these Rules, the secretary of the board oversight committee shall forthwith notify the Bank and the Board.

~~10)~~11) The credit union may, by resolution of a majority of the members present and voting at an SGM called for that purpose, remove a member of the board oversight committee from office. The Secretary shall, not less than 21 days before the date of the SGM at which it is proposed to move such a resolution, give written notice of the meeting to the member concerned and the provisions of Rule 6(5) shall apply *mutatis mutandis*.

Formatted: Font: Italic

~~11)~~12) A register of the members of the Board and the board oversight committee shall be kept by the Secretary and shall be signed by each member of the Board and the board oversight committee after an AGM or, in the case of a member appointed to fill a casual vacancy, after ~~their~~his/her appointment.

~~12)~~13) The acts of a member of the Board or the board oversight committee shall be valid notwithstanding any defect in the election or appointment of the member which may subsequently be discovered.

~~13)~~14) Where the secretary of the board oversight committee has given notice that all the members of the board oversight committee intend to resign on the same date, all the members of the board oversight committee have been removed or suspended in accordance with section 96(1) of the Act or there are no members of the board oversight committee, the Board shall convene an SGM, within one month of the occurrence of the event in question, to elect a board oversight committee.

~~14)~~15) At a meeting of the Board which is held immediately after the AGM or SGM at which an election is held for members of the Board and which is chaired by a member of the board oversight committee, the Board shall elect by secret ballot directors to fill such of the principal posts of Chair, vice-chair and Secretary as are then vacant. The term of office of the holder of a principal post shall be until the conclusion of the next AGM following ~~their~~his/her election to that post; and a person who has been a holder of a principal post shall be eligible for re-election to that post. In the event of a casual vacancy in a principal post, the Board may by secret ballot elect a director to hold that post until the next meeting at which an election should be held to fill any such vacancy. If a principal post falls vacant or for any other reason there is no holder of a principal post, anything that is required or authorised to be done by the holder of that post may be done by a director authorised in that behalf by the Board. The Chair or Secretary shall notify the Bank in writing of the election, appointment, retirement, removal or resignation from office of a Chair, vice-chair, director, Secretary or committee member and the notification shall be made within 14 days of the election, appointment, retirement, removal or resignation and state the full name and address of the officer concerned.

Principal Committees

~~15)~~16) The Board shall appoint a credit committee and a credit control committee, each of not less than 3 members. No person shall be eligible to serve at the same time on both the credit and credit control committees. Neither the credit control officer nor the credit officer shall be eligible to serve on either committee. The committees shall each choose from its number a ~~chairman~~ and a secretary which offices shall not be held by the same person. The secretary shall prepare and maintain complete records of all meetings of the committees. The committees shall each meet as often as necessary to carry out their functions. Notice of such meetings shall be given to the committee members in such manner as the committees may from time to time prescribe. The committees shall submit a written report to the Board at each meeting of the Board and comply with any Board instruction.

~~16)~~17) The credit committee and/or a credit officer shall inquire into the character and financial circumstances of an applicant for credit and the security offered, if any, in order to ascertain the applicant's ability to repay a loan in accordance with its terms and determine whether the loan is for a provident or productive purpose. When funds are not available to make all the loans for which there are applications, preference shall be given to the applications for smaller loans if the need and credit factors are comparable. Subject to the limits imposed by the Act, regulations and these Rules, and the general policies or specific directives of the Board, the credit

committee or the credit officer shall determine the security, if any, required for each loan and the terms upon which it shall be repaid. ~~A record of each application for credit which has or has not been approved shall be furnished by the credit officer to the credit committee within 7 days of receipt of the application and such record shall be considered by the credit committee at its next following meeting and become part of the records of the credit union.~~

~~17)~~18) The credit control committee shall seek to ensure the repayment of loans by members of the credit union in accordance with their loan agreements.

19) The Board shall appoint a membership committee, which shall consider and decide on applications for membership of the credit union. The membership committee shall meet as often as necessary to carry out its functions, submit a written report to the Board at each meeting of the Board and comply with any instruction of the Board. Subject to these rules and the Act, the membership committee shall notify the Board of the new members whose applications they have approved and where there is doubt in respect of an applicant's qualification, submit such application to the Board for decision.

~~18)~~20) The Board shall appoint a nomination committee of 3 or ~~5 more~~ directors, which shall identify candidates to be nominated to the Board, accept and propose such nominations and fulfil the other requirements of Section 56B of the Act.

~~19)~~21) If the board oversight committee considers that an officer who is not an employee has taken any action or decision which, in the opinion of the committee, is not in accordance with the law or these Rules, then, after ~~notifying~~consulting the Bank, it may either suspend the officer by a unanimous vote of all the members of the committee taken at a meeting of the committee called for the purpose of considering ~~their~~his/her suspension or convene an SGM to consider whether to remove the officer in the light of the action or decision taken by ~~the officer~~him/her but no action shall be taken under this Rule without the officer concerned being given an opportunity to be heard by the members of the board oversight committee.

~~20)~~22) If an officer who has been suspended by the board oversight committee in accordance with Rule 6(~~21~~18) does not resign within 7 days of the vote by the committee, the committee shall convene, for a date not more than 21 days after the expiry of those 7 days, an SGM for the purpose of reviewing the suspension and to consider whether to remove the officer in the light of the action or decision taken by ~~the officer~~him. Without prejudice to the requirements of section 80 of the Act, not less than 10 days before the date of a meeting of the board oversight

committee called as mentioned in Rule 6(21) and the date of an SGM, the board oversight committee shall give written notice of the meeting to the Bank and to the officer concerned.

~~21~~23) At an SGM held under this Rule, the members, according to the purpose or purposes for which the meeting was convened, may, by secret ballot ratify the suspension of the officer concerned and remove ~~the officer~~him/her from office or rescind the suspension of that officer or remove that officer from office; but no officer shall be so removed from office without being given an opportunity to be heard by the members present at the meeting. Where an officer of a credit union is removed from office at an SGM, the vacancy caused by the removal shall be filled in such manner as may be determined by the meeting.

Other Officers

~~22~~24) The Board shall appoint a Manager who shall be the chief executive officer of the credit union and a risk officer, a compliance officer, an internal audit officer, and such other officers as the Board may consider necessary for the more effective management of the credit union. The Manager shall have responsibility for the ~~day-to-day~~day-to-day management of the credit union's operations, compliance with its policies and performance and shall be responsible to the Board. The Board may appoint the Manager to the Board for such a term as the Board may determine but, in any event, no longer than the Manager holds that position of employment. The roles and responsibilities of such other officers as shall be appointed shall be clearly defined and documented.

~~23~~25) The Board shall approve the appointment by the Manager of a person, other than a member of the credit committee or a member of the credit control committee or a credit control officer, as a credit officer to work under the supervision of the credit committee and delegate to the credit officer the power to approve credit:

- a) that is fully secured by the shareholding of the borrowing member or to an amount (as the Board may determine from time to time), specified in writing by the Board, in excess of that shareholding; or
- b) that qualifies as emergency credit within such definitions and limitations as to amount, the terms of repayment and security required for emergency credit as may be established in writing by the Board.

~~24~~26) The Board shall approve the appointment by the Manager of a person, other than a member of the credit control committee, or member of the credit committee or a credit officer, as a

credit control officer to assist the credit control committee and work under its supervision and control.

Remuneration

~~25)27)~~ The credit union shall not pay any remuneration, directly or indirectly, to a director or a member of the board oversight committee, ~~credit committee, credit control committee or membership committee~~ for any service performed by that person in that capacity. Nothing in this Rule shall be regarded as prohibiting the payment or reimbursement of expenses which are necessarily incurred by a director or board oversight committee member in the course of performing any service on behalf, or for the benefit, of the credit union and which are approved by at least 2 a majority of the directors (excluding the beneficiary) voting at a meeting of the Board. Nothing in this Rule shall be regarded as prohibiting any officer or voluntary assistant of the credit union, acting not as such but in their/his/her professional capacity, from tendering for the supply of, and if successful supplying, goods or services to the credit union.

Rule 7. Maximum amount of interest in shares

Subject to any requirements prescribed by the Bank under section 27(2) of the Act a member shall not have or claim an interest in shares in the credit union exceeding an amount which, when aggregated with the amount held by the member on deposit with the credit union, exceeds such maximum sum or limit as may be set by the Board which sum shall not exceed such maximum amount or limit as may be prescribed by law or by the Bank from time to time.

Rule 8. Withdrawal of shares

- 1) Notwithstanding anything in these rules or in any contract, the credit union may require not less than 60 days' notice from a member of their/his/her intention to withdraw a share in the credit union and a member may not withdraw any shares at a time when a claim due on account of deposits is unsatisfied.
- 2) If a member seeks to withdraw a share in the credit union at a time when the member/he/she has an outstanding liability (including contingent liability) to the credit union, whether as borrower, guarantor or otherwise, that withdrawal shall only be permitted if:
 - a) such shares are not attached savings within the meaning of Section 32(3)(d) of the Act; or
 - b) such shares are attached savings ~~but the value of the member's savings immediately after the withdrawal would not be less than 25% of his/her outstanding liability~~ and such withdrawal has been approved by the credit committee or a credit officer, a majority of the Board voting at a Board meeting.

- 3) Where a member is indebted to the credit union and consents in writing to the credit union acting under this paragraph, the credit union may, by way of set-off against the indebtedness, withdraw any of the member's shares and such a withdrawal may be made notwithstanding anything in Rule 8(1) and Rule 8(2).
- 4) Subject to Rule 8(1), all moneys due in respect of withdrawable shares by the credit union to a member who withdraws or is expelled from the credit union shall be paid to them/him/her after deduction of all moneys due from them/him/her to the credit union and the nominal value of non-withdrawable shares held by a member who is expelled (but not one who withdraws) may also be paid to them/him/her (after deduction of all moneys so due).
- 5) Notwithstanding anything in these Rules or in any contract, the credit union may, if it thinks fit, postpone payment of the whole or any part of the moneys to be paid as mentioned in Rule 8(4) until the end of the period of 60 days beginning on the date of the expulsion or withdrawal of the member concerned. No payment in respect of shares shall be made by the credit union to a withdrawing member while any claim due on account of deposits is unsatisfied and no payment of any description shall be made to such a member unless all the member's his/her liabilities (including contingent liabilities) to the credit union, whether as borrower, guarantor or otherwise, have been fully discharged or otherwise fully provided for by a person other than the credit union. The withdrawal of a member from the credit union shall not operate to relieve that member from any liability to the credit union which exists at the time of the withdrawal.

Rule 9. Loans

(1) The credit union may (a) make a loan to a member or when permitted by the Act, enter into an agreement with (b) one or more other credit unions in accordance with which the credit union agrees to participate in a loan to a member of one of those other credit unions by the originating lender, or (c) between the credit union and one of more other credit unions and one or more members or members of one of those other credit unions in accordance with which the credit union may provide a loan to the members of those other credit unions.

(1/2) Loans may be made for a provident or productive purpose as the credit union considers appropriate, upon such security (or without security) and terms as the Board may require, the ability to repay the loan being the primary underwriting consideration. provide; but no loan shall be made to a member who is under the age of 18 and neither is nor has been married unless an indemnity is provided by the member's parent or legal guardian or by a person approved by the Board. The manner in which loans may be applied for, considered and made shall be determined by reference also to such policies as the Board may adopt in accordance

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.25 cm, Hanging: 0.5 cm

with the Act and the Consumer Credit Directive (2008/48/EC) and the European Communities (Consumer Credit Agreements) Regulations 2010 and any amending or superseding legislation.

~~(2)~~(3) Subject to the limits prescribed by law and by these Rules, the Board shall determine from time to time the maximum amount which may, at a particular time, be on loan to a member either by way of secured loans or by way of unsecured loans, and such limits shall apply equally to all members. The credit union may make loans to a member provided the amount of the member's outstanding liability (including contingent liability) to the credit union, whether as borrower, guarantor or otherwise, does not exceed the limits set by Board policy.

~~(3)~~(4) The credit union may make loans to members ceasing to have the common bond required of members.

~~(4)~~(5) The credit union may accept, in respect of a loan, in addition to other forms of security, a guarantee by a member, or a pledge by a member of shares in or deposits with the credit union, and, where such a guarantee or pledge is accepted, it shall be deemed to be a security for the loan. The credit union shall not accept from an officer of the credit union a guarantee for a loan to another member unless that other member is the officer's spouse, civil partner, child or parent.

~~(5)~~(6) The credit union shall not make a loan to a member unless it is approved:

- (a) by such number of members of the Board voting by secret ballot at a meeting of the board at which the application for the loan is considered as represents at least two-thirds of those present and a majority of the members of the Board as a whole; or
- (b) by such number of members of the credit committee present at a meeting of that committee at which the application for the loan is considered as represents at least two-thirds of those present and a majority of the committee members as a whole; or
- (c) by a credit officer; or
- (d) in accordance with a loan approval process which has been approved by the board of directors.

~~(6) A loan to an officer exceeding his savings may not be approved except by special committee consisting of a majority of the Board and at least one member of the credit committee but shall not include the applicant for the loan. A loan to an officer not exceeding his/her savings may be approved in accordance with either Rule 9(5)(b) or (5)(c).~~

(7) Any person knowingly responsible for the issue of a non-compliant loan to a non-member shall be jointly and severally liable with the borrower to the credit union in the amount of the loan and accrued interest.

(8) If an application for a loan which was considered by the credit committee or by a credit officer was not approved under Rule 9(6), the member (or non-qualifying member) may appeal to the Board ~~(excluding, where the application for the loan was considered by the credit committee, any director who is a member of that committee)~~ which, by a decision of at least two thirds of such directors present at the meeting at which the appeal is considered, may give approval to the loan, overriding the decision of the credit committee or credit officer, as the case may be. For the purposes of the consideration of an appeal under this Rule, the Board shall not be regarded as quorate unless there is present a majority of the directors entitled to participate in the appeal.

(9) The credit union may purchase and maintain such insurances as the Act may require or permit and as the Board consider necessary or desirable including insurance of members in relation to their shares and to loans made to them.

~~(9)~~(10) When the Act permits, the credit union may refer a member to another credit union for the provision by that credit union of loan or other services or the credit union may provide loan or other services to a member of another credit union referred to it. In either instance, the recipient of the service shall be considered a member of the credit union providing the service for the purpose only of the provision of the service concerned and for the period during which the service is provided.

Rule 10. Custody and use of seal

The credit union shall have its name engraved in legible characters on a seal which shall be kept in such custody as the Board may appoint. The seal of the credit union shall be used only under the authority of a resolution of the Board, the date whereof shall be mentioned in the instrument to which the seal is ~~attached, and attached and~~ shall be attested by the signatures of two directors of the credit union and the countersignature of the Secretary for the time being.

Rule 11. Audit of accounts

1) The auditor of the credit union appointed in accordance with the Act shall make a report to the members on the accounts examined by ~~the auditor-him/her~~, and on the annual accounts which are to be laid before the credit union at the AGM during ~~the auditor'shis/her~~ tenure of office;

and the auditor's report shall be read at the AGM and shall be open to inspection by any member.

- 2) Before signing the his report, the auditor shall meet with and report to the directors and the members of the board oversight committee on the annual accounts and any matter relating thereto which the auditor he/she considers should be drawn to their attention.
- 3) The auditor's report shall state whether:
 - a) The auditor he/she has obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of the auditor's his/her knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of the his audit;
 - b) The auditor he/she is of the opinion that proper accounting records have been kept by the credit union;
 - c) the credit union's annual accounts are in agreement with the accounting records of the credit union;
 - d) the auditor he/she is of the opinion that the credit union's annual accounts have been properly prepared so as to conform with any requirements made by or under the Act and give a true and fair view:
 - i) in the case of the balance sheet, of the credit union's state of affairs as at the end of the financial year;
 - ii) in the case of the income and expenditure account, of the income and expenditure of the credit union for the financial year; and
 - e) the credit union's annual accounts contain any statement required under section 111(1)(c) of the Act, to be included by the body of accountants concerned.
- 4) Without prejudice to Rule 11(3), where the report of the auditor relates to any accounts other than the income and expenditure account for the financial year in respect of which the auditor he/she is appointed, that report shall state whether those accounts give a true and fair view of any matter to which they relate.
- 5) The auditor shall have a right of access at all reasonable times to the books and documents of the credit union, and, shall be entitled to require from the officers and voluntary assistants of the credit union such information and explanations that are within their knowledge or can be procured by them, as the auditor he/she thinks necessary for the performance of the his/her duties as auditor.

- 6) The auditor shall be entitled to attend any general meeting of the credit union and to be heard at any general meeting on any part of the business which concerns ~~the him/her as~~ auditor and the credit union shall give the auditor the same notice of, and any other communications relating to, a general meeting that a member is entitled to receive.

Rule 12. Settlement of disputes and complaints

- 1) Save as otherwise required by or under the Act, this rule applies to any dispute between the credit union and:
 - a) a member of the credit union in his capacity as a member;
 - b) any former member of the credit union (in that capacity) who ceased to be a member of the credit union not more than six months previously;
 - c) any person claiming through any such member or former member (in their capacity as such); or
 - d) any person claiming under these rules.
- 2) Nothing in this rule shall prevent:
 - a) a credit union, or
 - b) a member of a credit union, or
 - c) any person claiming through or under a member of a credit union,
 - d) from obtaining in the ordinary course of law any remedy to which the credit union, member or person is entitled in respect of any contract, excluding that constituted by these rules.
- 3) All disputes under this rule shall be decided in the following manner:
 - a) For the purposes of this rule the complaining party or parties described under paragraph (1) shall be referred to as the complainant. The credit union shall ensure that this procedure and the names of officers designated under paragraph (3)(b) are notified to all members and are displayed in a prominent position in the public office of the credit union.
 - b) The board of directors shall appoint:
 - i) a complaints officer whose duty it shall be to receive complaints forms under paragraph (3)(d) and to investigate, discuss and wherever possible resolve such complaints;

- ii) a complaints sub-committee, whose membership shall not include the officer appointed under paragraph (3)(i) above, whose duty it shall be to investigate, discuss and wherever possible resolve complaints.
- c) The complainant shall discuss the complaint with the complaints officer appointed by the credit union under paragraph (3)(b)i).
- d) In the event that the complaint is not resolved to the satisfaction of the complainant under paragraph (3)(c), the complainant shall complete a complaints form which shall be readily available in the public office of the credit union and pre-addressed to the complaints sub-committee. Following receipt of the complaints form, the complaints sub-committee shall investigate, discuss and wherever possible resolve the complaint. The complainant shall have the right to be heard by the sub-committee.
- e) In the event that the complaint is not resolved to the satisfaction of the complainant under paragraph (3)(d), the complainant shall request the secretary of the credit union to forward the complaint to the board of directors. The board of directors shall investigate, discuss and wherever possible resolve the complaint. The complainant shall have the right to be heard by the board of directors.
- f) Nothing in this rule shall prevent the Financial Services Pensions Ombudsman from investigating and adjudicating a complaint made against a credit union about the provision of, or failure to provide, a financial service, so long as the complaint:
 - i) falls within the jurisdiction of that Ombudsman, and
 - ii) does not relate to a matter that involves only the governance of the credit union.

Rule 13. Withdrawal of membership, deceased and bankrupt members and nominations

Withdrawal

- 1) A person ceases to be a member on ~~their~~ his/her withdrawal from the credit union or on ceasing to hold the minimum shareholding, in accordance with Rule 4(2) or on death or on expulsion from the credit union or in the case of a member other than a natural person, on its dissolution, or the taking of an effective action to wind it up or if, after admission, any defect is discovered in his qualification for membership at the time of his admission. Subject to Rule 8, a member may

withdraw from membership of the credit union at any time, by notice in writing to the credit union.

Deceased members

- 2) If a member dies and, at ~~their his/her~~ death, ~~their his/her~~ property in the credit union (whether in savings, loans, insurance or otherwise) does not in the whole exceed the amount prescribed by law and is not the subject of a nomination under Rule 4, the Board may, without letters of administration or probate of any will, accede to a written request to discharge the member's funeral vouched expenses and distribute the balance of the property among such persons as appears to the Board (on such evidence as they consider satisfactory) to be entitled by law to make such request for payment and to receive the balance of the property.

Bankrupt members

- 3) If any member becomes bankrupt ~~theirhis/her~~ property in the credit union not automatically assigned to the credit union against a loan or guarantee of a loan shall be transferred or paid to the Official Assignee in Bankruptcy.

Nominations

- 4) Subject to Rule 5 and Rule 6, a member who is of or over the age of 16 may, by a written statement signed by ~~the member, duly witnessed by two persons him/her~~ and made in any book kept at the credit union's registered office, or delivered at or sent to that office during ~~the member's his/her~~ lifetime, nominate a person or persons to become entitled at ~~the member's his/her~~ death to the whole, or such part or parts as may be specified in the nomination, of any property in the credit union (whether in savings, loans, insurances or otherwise) which ~~the member he/she~~ may have at the time of death. The nomination of a person who is at the date of the nomination an officer of the credit union shall not be valid unless that person is a member of the nominator's family.
- 5) For the purpose of the disposal of any property which is the subject of a nomination, if at the date of the nominator's death the amount of ~~theirhis/her~~ property in the credit union comprised in the nomination exceeds the maximum as prescribed by law, the nomination shall be valid to the maximum as prescribed by law but not further or otherwise.
- 6) A nomination may be revoked or varied by a subsequent nomination by the member or by any similar document in the nature of a revocation or variation signed by the nominator and delivered to the credit union's registered office during ~~the member's his/her~~ lifetime; but such a nomination shall not be revocable or variable by the will of the nominator or by any codicil to ~~the member's his~~ will.

- 7) The credit union shall keep a record of the names of all persons nominated by its members and such other details as will positively identify the nominees and of all revocations or variations (if any) of nominations.
- 8) The marriage of a member shall operate as a revocation of any nomination made by the member him/her before marriage, but if, in ignorance of a later marriage, an officer of the credit union transfers any property of that member in pursuance of such a nomination, the receipt of the nominee shall be a valid discharge to the credit union, and the credit union shall be under no liability to any other person claiming the property. A nomination shall be revoked by the death of the nominee before the death of the nominator.
- 9) Where any member has made a nomination under Rule 5, the credit union Board, on receiving satisfactory proof of the death of that member, and if and to the extent that the nomination is valid, shall in the case of each person entitled under the nomination either transfer to nominee him/her, or pay nominee him/her the full value of, the property to which nominee he/she is so entitled.
- 10) If the transfer of any shares comprised in a nomination in the manner directed by the nominator would raise the shareholding of any nominee beyond the maximum for the time being permitted in the credit union, the credit union Board shall not transfer to that nominee more of those shares than will raise the member's his/her shareholding to that maximum and shall pay the member him/her or transfer to the member's his/her deposit account the value of any of those shares not transferred.
- 11) Where any sum falls to be paid to a nominee under the age of 16 years, the credit union may pay that sum to either parent, or to a legal guardian, of the nominee or to any other person of full age who will undertake to hold it on trust for the nominee or to apply it for nominee's his benefit and whom the credit union may think a fit and proper person for the purpose and a receipt for that sum signed by that parent, legal guardian or other person shall be a sufficient discharge to the credit union for all money so paid.
- 12) All payments or transfers made by the credit union Board to a person appearing to the credit union Board at the time of payment or transfer to be entitled to such payment shall be valid and effectual against any demand made upon the credit union Board by any other person.

Rule 14. Treatment of debts of certain officers

A director or a member of the board oversight committee shall be deemed to have resigned from their his/her position as a director or member of such committee if the person he/she is more than

90 consecutive days in arrears under any debt obligation owing to the credit union and ~~they~~ he/she shall not continue to serve in such role thereafter.

4 APPENDIX 1 – Common Bond Map



This page has been intentionally left blank

**Core Credit Union Ltd is regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland, Registration Number 225CU
Registered office: Clara House, 37 Glenageary Park, Glenageary, Dún Laoghaire, Dublin, A96 XE26**